Report by Susy Ndaruhutse, Charlotte Jones and Anna Riggall

Why systems thinking is important for the education sector





Why systems thinking is important for the education sector



Education Development Trust Highbridge House, 16–18 Duke Street, Reading, Berkshire RG1 4RU T +44 (0) 118 902 1000 E enquiries@educationdevelopmenttrust.com W www.educationdevelopmenttrust.com

ISBN: 978-1-912610-01-3

© COPYRIGHT EDUCATION DEVELOPMENT TRUST 2019. THE VIEWS AND OPINIONS EXPRESSED IN THIS PUBLICATION ARE THOSE OF THE AUTHORS AND DO NOT NECESSARILY REPRESENT THE VIEWS OF EDUCATION DEVELOPMENT TRUST.

Contents

Welcome to Education Development Trust	4
About the authors	5
Acknowledgements	5
Acronyms and abbreviations	7
Overview	8
Chapter 1: What is systems thinking?	12
Chapter 2: How has systems thinking evolved?	16
Computer engineering	17
Urban planning and broader strategic planning	17
International development	18
Health sector	18
The application of systems thinking to policymaking	19
Chapter 3: Why is systems thinking important for education?	20
The 'learning crisis' and systems thinking	22
Chapter 4: Examples of at scale education system reform	24
Important definitions and distinctions in relation to education reform	25
Alberta, Canada	26
Dubai	26
England	27
Finland	27
London, England	27
New York City, US	29
Rio de Janeiro, Brazil	29
Vietnam	29

Chapter 5: Six key accelerators for education system reform	30
Accelerator 1: Vision and leadership	31
Accelerator 2: Coalitions for change	33
Accelerator 3: Delivery architecture including school collaboration	33
Accelerator 4: Data for collective accountability and improvement	35
Accelerator 5: Teacher and school leadership effectiveness	36
Accelerator 6: Evidence-informed policy and learning	37
A framework for education system reform	38
Chapter 6: Policy tensions	40
Tension 1: The need to fix the learning crisis whilst not forgetting about those who are not able to access education	41
Tension 2: Looking at education as a system whilst at the same time recognising that education is part of a bigger system with interdependencies	42
Tension 3: The desire to be evidence- informed yet the reality of operating in a political, economic, social and cultural context that at times has conflicting priorities	42
Tension 4: The theory of education system reform versus the reality of the capacity of the system to implement that reform	43
Tension 5: The need to balance the focus on the system with a wider understanding of personal agency and community responsibility for education	45
Chapter 7: Conclusion	46
References	50

Welcome to Education Development Trust

At Education Development Trust, we have been improving education around the world for 50 years. We design and implement improvement programmes for school systems, deliver expert careers and employability services, and deploy specialists to provide consultancy services internationally. Our work is informed by our continually refreshed body of research that focuses on the bright spots in education, from education authorities as diverse as those in Vietnam, Kenya, England, New York and Dubai.

Bringing about real change that alters the aspects of a national system that, for many reasons, is not working so well at the time, requires knowledge and the ability to design and implement changes to any of the levers that can impede great educational outcomes. So, the ability to affect policy, practices, pedagogy, behaviour, funding, attitudes and more is a prerequisite for a company that can truly claim to transform lives through improving education.

With highly informed agents of change operating in low- to high-income countries with their varying internal contexts, we not only design, but also show and enable – so when working with us, everyone involved, from policymakers to school leaders and teachers, is able to apply their new knowledge to drive sustainable system reform.

Our expert knowledge, programme design and implementation expertise are also deployed in delivering Ofsted-rated outstanding careers services in England, and in owning and managing a family of independent schools.

We are a not-for-profit and we are driven by our values of integrity, accountability, excellence and collaboration.

About the authors

Susy Ndaruhutse is Head of Education Reform at Education Development Trust. She leads the organisation's education consultancy work in developing countries and has global responsibility for the organisation's R&D work on education system reform. Susy has worked on education policy, strategy and finance in a range of low- and middle-income countries, particularly in Sub-Saharan Africa and has led a number of research projects looking at education systems and broader public policy reform. She holds an MSc in Development Economics from the University of Warwick.

Charlotte Jones is Global Head of Research and Development (R&D) at Education Development Trust. She has spent nearly 20 years supporting clients across sectors – education, health, regeneration and the private sector – to deliver complex reform programmes. Charlotte now uses these insights to ensure Education Development Trust designs high-impact education reform solutions, from community-led initiatives in India to systemic workforce reform in Brunei. With a background in organisation effectiveness and at scale change management, she is passionate about turning theory into action, giving policymakers and practitioners the tools to deliver on their promises.

Dr Anna Riggall is Head of Research at Education Development Trust. She leads Education Development Trust's global programme of academic educational research and promotes evidence engagement across the organisation. She holds an MA in Education and Development Studies and a PhD in Education. She specialises in the areas of education system reform, education for marginalised groups (including children with disabilities, girls and refugees), teacher development, leadership, accountability, and education in emergencies.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to Rachael Fitzpatrick and Alex Fenn for their research assistance in identifying material for potential case studies for this report from previous and current research undertaken by Education Development Trust; Hassan Ahmed for identifying key research articles on systems thinking in the health sector; and Tony McAleavy for providing insightful comments at review stage.

We would also like to recognise the contribution made by Alex Stutz, Sally Richards and Alex Beard from CFE Research. We have drawn some examples cited from a rapid review of evidence relating to *successful and sustainable education reform* that we commissioned from them in late 2018.



Acronyms and abbreviations

DFID	Department for International Development (UK)
DSIB	Dubai School Inspection Bureau
GPE	Global Partnership for Education
KHDA	Knowledge and Human Development Authority
LFA	Logical Framework Analysis
МоЕ	Ministry of Education
NLNS	National Literacy and Numeracy Strategy (England)
Norad	Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation
OECD	Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development
Ofsted	Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills (England)
OOSC	Out-of-school children
PISA	Programme for International Student Assessment
SDG	Sustainable Development Goal
SWAp	Sector-Wide Approach
UK	United Kingdom
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
US	United States
wно	World Health Organisation





Sarason's influential book – The Predictable Failure of Education Reform¹ – talks about the intractability of school systems and posits that complexity is the root cause of education reform failure. Sarason makes a compelling case.

This report focuses on systems thinking and its place in education transformation. It reflects on key published literature and on specific outputs from our own programme of research which has placed emphasis on system reform over the past five years. We hope it makes its own compelling contribution to writings on the topic.

Our work at Education Development Trust brings us into direct contact with education systems, and their governments. We are tasked with helping to solve intractable educational challenges. Our research and our work have a strong focus on reform, often at scale, and always in relation to one or more central elements of an education system (for example, leadership, teaching, learning). Systems thinking is a vital component part of what we do, how we understand the nature of the issues and how we support change.

Systems thinking has a past that tracks from computer engineering through urban planning, development and health. It has revolutionised the conceptualisation of problems and approaches to solutions in equal measure. It began as a means to address complex issues relating to supply chains. In broader strategic planning the notion of 'wicked problems' gained instant traction. Their explicit connection with intractability, complexity and system-wide breadth offered a useful discourse and helped the language 'catch on'. For development this paved the way for a move from more linear modes of analysing issues to more systemic approaches that allowed the relationships between organisations and the external environment to be factored in, and vice versa. Other fields such as healthcare, adopted systems thinking approaches to address some of the most stubborn issues affecting the populations they serve. This manifested as multifaceted and multidirectional policies and campaigns designed to tackle disease and change behaviours in the general population. Systems thinking in healthcare also resulted in contextually specific strategies for strengthening healthcare around the world. The application of systems thinking in policymaking discouraged linear cause and effect thinking and encouraged a more complex approach to understanding predictability and the relationship between actions and outcomes.

Systems thinking is a vital component part of what we do, how we understand the nature of the issues and how we support change In education, our field of interest, since the 1990s the discourse of systems thinking has increasingly permeated the fabric of donor and governmental thinking. In the late 1990s sector -wide approaches (SWAps) took hold to encourage the interaction of multiple stakeholders within and outside a system to work together for a common goal. It helped in part to tackle the great access crisis of the period. Systems thinking remains high on the agenda of the donors in relation to the current learning crisis too. The language and the discourse have infused the work of organisations such as World Bank, the Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation (NORAD), the UK's Department for International Development (DFID) and UNICEF.

Interesting international examples of systems thinking linked to education reform have emerged from our own research as well as from the work of others. These examples highlight the ways in which systems thinking has inspired reform efforts and seems to be delivering results for learners. Our analysis of these examples leads us to identify six accelerators, summarised below, and a framework designed to support systems thinking for education reform at scale. Interesting international examples of systems thinking linked to education reform have emerged from our own research as well as from the work of others



OVERVIEW

Sadly, the examples we draw on also highlight the paucity of good evidence gathering run in tandem with reforms leaving us tentatively and retrospectively trying to piece together cause and effect.

Our framework places emphasis on and depicts the interplay between:

- vision and leadership
- coalitions for change
- delivery architecture including school collaboration
- data for collective accountability and improvement
- teacher and school leadership effectiveness
- evidence-informed policy and learning

This report concludes with a reflection on five policy tensions. These tensions are a collection of complex, intractable problems and considerations that must remain at the forefront of the minds of those leading and delivering global education reform efforts. These tensions suggest a need for us all to:

1. Keep a balanced focus on how to use systems thinking to address simultaneously the two 'wicked problems' of equitable access and quality learning.

2. To work across organisational boundaries in a joined-up way, reforming education systems to improve outcomes for all children whilst also considering the wider systemic influences so reform is not undermined.

3. Balance the desire to be evidence-informed with the reality that operating in a political, economic, social and cultural context will make this hard to do.

4. Pay equal attention to a) the change management programme and accompanying capacity development approach needed to implement a reform and b) designing the reform itself.

5. Carefully balance what the system can achieve with personal and collective responsibility for decisions that can (negatively or positively) impact the functioning of the system.

The scale of the challenge is significant. The SDGs have set out ambitious targets for education in 2030 looking at equitable access, quality teaching, relevant learning and ensuring children and young people are developing the skills, values and competencies needed to sustain them during adulthood and to provide a sustainable livelihood.

Traditional responses to improve education outcomes that take a piecemeal approach may have some success but are unlikely to solve the 'wicked problems' that different education systems around the world face. Systems thinking offers a glimpse of a different future. It can help policymakers achieve faster and more sustained progress in education that results in broad outcomes for the current and future generation of children and young people.

The scale of the challenge is significant. The SDGs have set out ambitious targets for education in 2030 Chapter 1

What is systems thinking?



A system is a set of components that work together as a whole to achieve a common objective. A system is greater than the sum of its constituent components because the relationship between the different components adds value to the system.

Systems thinking is an understanding of how the different components and stakeholders of a system interact and impact each other. Systems thinking goes further than mapping key stakeholders and institutions, and includes analysing formal and informal interrelationships, and how they influence the functioning of a system.

Systems thinking can be particularly powerful when:²

- an issue or problem is important
- an issue or problem is chronic and persists over time
- an issue or problem is familiar and has well-known features
- people have unsuccessfully tried to solve the issues or problem before.

Systems thinking is different to linear or cause and effect thinking, as it recognises more complex interdependencies and how multiple components may affect each other in different ways. It also helps to differentiate between the underlying issue and the symptoms of something deeper.

Systems thinking is different to linear or cause and effect thinking, as it recognises more complex interdependencies and how multiple components may affect each other in different ways

TABLE 1: LINEAR AND SYSTEMS THINKING COMPARED

Traditional, linear thinking	Systems thinking
Looks at individual parts often in isolation	Looks at the whole of the system
Focuses on content	Focuses on process
Takes a cause and effect approach and sometimes attempts to fix symptoms rather than underlying problems	Seeks to understand potential causes and the dynamic factors that might be at play, including feedback loops
Tends to think 'technically' about a problem and think that a problem is easily solvable by a simple solution	Tends to think 'big picture' including factoring in incentives and the political economy when thinking about how hard it might be to solve this problem

As outlined in a handbook for Oxfam programme staff,³ systems thinking requires:

- iterative and adaptive planning based on learning and experimentation
- a focus on multi-stakeholder approaches and co-creation with local stakeholders
- the search for context-specific solutions rather than generic ones based on good practice elsewhere
- a recognition that pre-existing paradigms and pre-conceived ideas often limit our ability to understand local contexts
- a focus on fostering and use of complex resources
- increased work across organisational boundaries, reducing differences in power, bringing in different ideas and perspectives and resulting in a deeper, less biased understanding of the systems we engage in.



Chapter 2

How has systems thinking evolved?



Systems thinking emerged in the 1950s. How it has grown and matured in its application in computer engineering, urban planning, development, health and policymaking is particularly interesting.

Computer engineering

Systems thinking has its origins in the mid-1950s when Professor Jay Forrester, a computer engineer who had started to research management, founded the field of 'systems dynamics' at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology Sloan School of Management. Professor Forrester developed 'systems dynamics' as an approach to the analysis of complex organisations and systems using computer simulations. He used this approach initially to analyse the supply chain at a General Electric appliance factory and to identify the cause of the factory's boom and bust cycle.⁴

Urban planning and broader strategic planning

In 1973, Rittel and Webber, urban planners at the University of California, Berkeley, coined the term 'wicked problem' to describe an issue that was highly resistant to resolution, such as a complex policy problem for which people do not agree on causes or know clear solutions. The discourse of 'wicked problems' was then adopted in broader planning to characterise problems that:

- are difficult to clearly define
- have many interdependencies and multiple causes
- result in unforeseen consequences when attempting to address them
- are not stable
- have no clear solution
- are socially complex
- do not sit conveniently within the responsibility of any one organisation
- involve changing behaviour
- are intractable (for example, being subject to chronic policy failure).5

Professor Forrester developed 'systems dynamics' as an approach to the analysis of complex organisations and systems using computer simulations

International development

Many development challenges have traditionally been examined using a linear perspective with their design and monitoring using logical framework analysis (LFA), drawing on the work of the US military related to analysis, planning and implementation in the 1960s. In more recent years, whilst LFA approaches are still common practice, there has been a recognition of the need for a more collaborative and systemic approach to tackling 'wicked problems', recognising their holistic and non-linear nature.

An example of such an approach appeared in 2003, when the UK's Department for International Development (DFID) published *Promoting Institutional and Organisational Development: A Source Book of Tools and Techniques*. This source book refers to the 'Open Systems Model' – a model based on a theory that organisations interact with their external environments rather than being closed and independent of external forces. The model allows a comprehensive analysis of the relationships between the organisation and its external environment and vice versa.

Health sector

There has been growing international consensus that despite the increased sophistication and improvement of most of the building blocks of the health sector, health outcomes have not been improving in equal measure. As a result, the health sector started to use systems thinking to address complex problems, such as tobacco control, obesity and tuberculosis. Lebcir⁶ outlines three examples of important health policy issues in which system dynamics modelling has been applied:

- disease transmission and public health risks assessment
- screening for disease
- managing waiting lists.

In 2007, the World Health Organisation (WHO) published a report outlining its Health System Framework and associated six building blocks⁷ which resulted in the health sector taking a much more systematic approach to health interventions.⁸ Since then, systems thinking has been used in the design of policies and support programmes for community health workers.⁹ WHO has also used systems thinking to develop a handbook *Strategizing national health in the 21st century*.¹⁰ This handbook highlights different strategies for strengthening health systems that that are appropriate and relevant to different countries, such as those with mature health systems, fragile countries with poor health systems and those that are somewhere in between. The health sector started to use systems thinking to address complex problems, such as tobacco control, obesity and tuberculosis

⁶ Lebcir (2006:18) ⁷ The principal building blocks for the health sector include: (i) service delivery, (ii) health workforce, (iii) information, (iv) medical products, vaccines and technologies, (v) financing; and (vi) governance and leadership ⁸ WHO (2007); De Savigny, D. and Taghreed, A. (Eds.) (2009) ⁹ WHO (2018) ¹⁰ Schmets, Rajan and Kadandale (2016)

The application of systems thinking to policymaking

The literature on systems thinking¹¹ argues that there are two important characteristics of systems – dynamism and complexity – that can result in unintended consequences or sub-optimal policy outcomes as outlined in the diagram below.



An action can have very different results in the short and long-term due to time lags between the cause and effect of an action

An action in one part of the system can be very different from its consequences in a different part of the system as relationships between the different parts of the system are not linear

Well-intentioned actions can produce unpredicted and surprising results due to complex networks of feedback loops Chapter 3

Why is systems thinking important for education?



In the 1990s, there was a growing realisation that many education reforms were not having the desired effect."

One author argued that 'schools change reforms as much as reforms change schools'¹³ making it very difficult to judge the true success or failure of a reform. Five reasons have been posited as to why education reforms in the twentieth century met with such little success:

- the piecemeal, or incremental approach
- failure to integrate solution ideas
- a discipline-by-discipline study of education
- a reductionist orientation
- staying within the boundaries of the existing system (not thinking out of the box).¹⁴

This highlights how education has often been viewed as a technical problem requiring a technical solution. However, when looking at education with systems thinking, there is an acknowledgement that the different components of the system interact including formal and informal institutions, processes, people, and social norms and behaviours, and this causes greater complexity that requires more than just a simple technical solution.¹⁵ Sarason's influential book *The Predictable Failure of Educational Reform: Can We Change Course Before It's Too Late?* pivots on the notion that the complexity of systems is at the heart of why reforms fail.¹⁶

Within developing countries, the concept of a sector-wide approach (SWAp) emerged in the late 1990s within key areas such as education, health and transport. The three main components or phases in a SWAp are:

1. An agreement between government and donors around the direction of the sector and aid effectiveness.

2. A framework for cooperation around a common agenda for education reform.

3. A structured operational programme led and managed by government and agreed by all parties.¹⁷

The basic rationale for a SWAp is to encourage a national government, in partnership with donors, non-governmental organisations, civil society and the private sector, to take a systems approach in developing a comprehensive, costed and nationally owned education sector strategic plan that supports the education policy.¹⁸ Whilst this was an important first step in thinking in a more systematic way about education, the late 1990s and early 2000s were still a period that was largely focused on achieving the Millennium Development Goal of Universal Primary Education, with the primary sub-sector in sharp focus. This resulted in

Education has often been viewed as a technical problem requiring a technical solution. However, when looking at education with systems thinking, there is an acknowledgement that the different components of the system interact... this causes greater complexity that requires more than just a simple technical solution

¹² See for example, Psacharopoulos (1989); Sarason (1990); Fullan and Miles (1992) ¹³ Cuban (1998) ¹⁴ Banathy (1991) ¹⁵ Betts (1992) ¹⁶ Sarason (1990) ¹⁷ Ratcliffe and Macrae (1999) ¹⁸ Boak and Ndaruhutse (2011)

emphasis on increasing the primary net enrolment rate as the main strategic objective for many developing countries without sufficient attention being given to what effect this would have in the medium-term on demand for (and supply of) secondary education. In addition, a focus on access without giving enough attention to quality and improving learning outcomes has also been problematic. The resultant 'learning crisis' has been discussed at length including in seminal research from the Education Commission in their *Learning Generation* report¹⁹ and is the focus of the World Bank's 2018 World Development Report *Learning to Realize Education's Promise.*²⁰

Key data and projections from the Education Commission's Learning Generation report ²¹

'In low- and middle-income countries, only half of primary-school aged children and little more than a quarter of secondary-school aged children are learning basic primary- and secondary-level skills.'

'If current trends continue, by 2030 just four out of 10 children of school age in low- and middle-income countries will be on track to gain basic secondary-level skills. In low-income countries, only one out of 10 will be on track.'

The 'learning crisis' and systems thinking

Over the last decade, several factors have converged that have challenged education policymakers to think in a new way about education systems:

- the education Sustainable Development Goal's (SDG) focus on improving learning
- the Global Partnership for Education's (GPE) focus on supporting developing countries to develop fully costed sector plans that take a more holistic approach to *all* sectors
- the 2018 World Development Report and the Education Commission's Learning Generation report.

These have all helped put systems thinking further up the agenda for policymakers, demonstrating that the 'learning crisis' is clearly an important and chronic issue which cannot be solved using a linear approach.

'A vision of a radically different school system is emerging — one that is managed more like an organisation [...].²²

A focus on access without giving enough attention to quality and improving learning outcomes has also been problematic As a result, systems thinking has become increasingly central to bilateral and multilateral donors in their thinking about the education sector as highlighted in the box below.

- The World Bank's *Education Strategy 2020* takes an integrated approach to the education system²³ stating that 'success in education has to do with strengthening countries' education systems'²⁴
- The Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs outlines in its *White Paper on Education and Development*, that a core part of its approach includes seeking to strengthen educational systems at country level²⁵
- The Education Commission's Report *The Learning Generation: Investing in education for a changing world* has systems thinking at its heart²⁶
- DFID's Education Policy *Get Children Learning* has as one of its six messages 'Back system reform which delivers results in the classroom'²⁷
- The World Bank's 2018 World Development Report *Learning to Realize Education's Promise* has a whole section dedicated to making the education system work for learning at scale²⁸
- UNICEF's *Strategic Plan 2018-2024* outlines the desire to 'support policy, capacity development and systems strengthening at both national and subnational levels...'²⁹
- The US Government's *Strategy on International Basic Education Fiscal Years 2019-2023* has as one of its four guiding principles, the need to strengthen the capacity and performance of education systems³⁰

²³ World Bank (2019) ²⁴ World Bank (2012:1) ²⁵ Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs (2014:18) ²⁶ Education Commission (2016) ²⁷ DFID (2018:19) ²⁸ World Bank (2018) ²⁹ UNICEF (2018a:26) ³⁰ US Government (2018)

Chapter 4

Examples of at scale education system reform



It is helpful to distinguish between the key terms 'at scale', 'system-wide' and 'systems thinking'. Although these phrases often appear together and can sometimes be used almost synonymously, they are different.

Important definitions and distinctions in relation to education reform

At scale: an intervention or set of interventions that are implemented in a large number of schools or districts or at national level.

An at scale intervention or set of interventions may have a variety of objectives and end goals. Examples of interventions and end goals could be:

- rolling out a new data collection system in order to monitor the academic progress of students
- introducing formula-funding with an equity focus so that schools in economically deprived areas receive higher levels of per capita funding
- providing training to improve the capacity of district education officials to undertake inspections
- introducing a new pedagogical approach in the classroom to improve learning outcomes.

System-wide: an intervention or set of interventions that are delivered through the system infrastructure.

Similar to an at scale intervention or set of interventions, system-wide interventions may have a variety of objectives and end goals.

Systems thinking: an approach which recognises the dynamic complexity of an education system and works with the end goal of improving learning outcomes at scale.

Much has been written about education reform, but often the analysis focuses on interventions in a particular area such as financing, decentralisation, teacher supply, curriculum, teacher incentives, instructional materials or scripted lessons.³¹ These examples may be delivered as pilots or at scale and may be delivered through the system infrastructure. However, there are fewer examples in the literature of reforms that use systems thinking and have demonstrated measurable increases in learning outcomes in a large city, state or a country. Much has been written about education reform, but often the analysis focuses on interventions in a particular area A set of key resources that fit in this category include:

- Michael Fullan's research on large-scale education reform
- Andrew Hargreaves' research including on Finland
- The McKinsey research on the world's most improved school systems
- Tony McAleavy and Alex Elwick's research on urban school reform in five cities
- Tony McAleavy, Thai Ha and Rachael Fitzpatrick's research on Vietnam.

Other authors look at system reform from a more theoretical or framing perspective drawing on wider organisational change literature and psychology.³² The following eight examples of education reforms were designed and implemented with systems thinking.³³

Alberta, Canada

This province in Canada does well in international assessments. It attracts good quality teachers to the profession and its success is built around two pillars – innovative capacity development and accountability. Through the Alberta Initiative for School Improvement fund, the province supplies funds to all its districts based on proposals developed by schools and districts. Separately, there is a database which tracks progress indicators and reports on performance. The innovative use of money and transparent data on progress have provided incentives for schools and districts to improve.³⁴

Dubai

Nearly 90% of children attend private fee-paying schools. Ten years ago, the country wanted to improve the standard of its education system but could not do this directly given that it did not own or manage these schools. The creation of two government agencies: the Knowledge and Human Development Authority (KHDA) and the Dubai School Inspection Bureau (DSIB) – helped to increase accountability for all schools and to drive school improvement. As a result, there have been rapid improvements over the last decade measured by an increase in the number and proportion of students in schools rated as Good or Outstanding in inspections. The focus of the Government of Dubai on accountability combined later with support and collaboration, has been key to the success.³⁵

The focus of the Government of Dubai on accountability combined later with support and collaboration, has been key to the success

³² See for example Adelman and Taylor (2007); Banathy (1991) ³⁵ These examples are drawn from a range of sources including a rapid review of the literature related to system reform, ongoing and completed research conducted by Education Development Trust. This is not an exhaustive list of examples ³⁴ Fullan (2009) ³⁵ McAleavy and Elwick (2017)

England

The late 1990s saw a significant education reform through the introduction of National Literacy and Numeracy Strategy (NLNS) that set out to improve learning outcomes for 11-year olds in all 20,000 primary schools across England. The strategy focused on six key elements: (i) ambitious standards, (ii) good data and clear targets, (iii) devolved responsibility, (iv) access to best practice and quality professional development; (v) accountability; and (vi) additional targeted support to low-improving schools. Following this reform the percentage of 11-year olds achieving high proficiency in literacy increased from 63% in 1997 to 75% in 2002, and the respective figures for numeracy moved from 62% to 73%.³⁶ The strategies continued well into the 2000s as did the positive trends in outcomes for pupils as well as reductions in the gap between all students and disadvantaged students.³⁷

Finland

In the early 2000s, Finland achieved top place in the Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) test. The exact period of the reforms leading up to this success and the specific reasons for its success are disputed.³⁸ However, what is not disputed is that education reform took a systems approach with the vision of having a united school system that has distributed leaders with collective responsibility for the performance of their own school and for other schools in their districts. Teaching is a highly valued and respected profession strongly linked to the country's broader economic and social vision; and there is a broad culture of trust, engagement and cooperation in professional relationships. These factors helped to create an enabling environment for the reforms. At district level, there is a strong focus on strategic thinking and planning coupled with school self-evaluation. There is also a culture of, and commitment to, learning in schools and in society as a whole. Within schools, there is a focus on sustainable learning across a broad core curriculum and leadership for, by and as learning.³⁹

Education reform [in Finland] took a systems approach with the vision of having a united school system that has distributed leaders with collective responsibility for the performance of their own school and for other schools in their districts

London, England

Over the last decade, education in London has been transformed. In the early 2000s London was the country's worst performing region in national tests at age 16. By 2013 it had become the country's highest performing region. By this time, it also had the highest proportion of schools being judged to be Good or Outstanding by the national inspection body, The Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills (Ofsted). Core strategies for this improvement have included: collecting and using data to provide challenge and to target additional support for underperforming schools; introducing systemic change to the way schools work together to improve; practitioner-led professional development; and strong, effective leadership at school and local authority level. This was further supported by sustained political will over this period.⁴⁰ The improvement trajectory has been sustained since 2013 and London's secondary schools continue to deliver impressive results for all pupils.⁴¹

³⁶ Fullan (2009) ³⁷ The National Strategies (2011) ³⁸ See Hargreaves, Halász and Pont (2007); Oates (2015) ³⁹ Hargreaves, Halász and Pont (2007) ⁴⁰ McAleavy and Elwick (2017) ⁴¹ McAleavy, Elwick and Hall-Chen (2018)



New York City, US

The restructuring of the education system by Mayor Bloomberg over a 10-year period brought about clear educational improvement. Over this period, graduation rates in New York City increased from 50% to 75% and dropout rates decreased. Schools in the city, which served a more economically disadvantaged population than other districts in New York State, closed the attainment gap. By 2013, towards the end of the reform period, the city's performance on national tests were amongst the top in the country when compared with other urban school districts or cities serving similar populations.⁴²

Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

in 2008, a new mayor was elected in the city, who worked with his Secretary of Education, to drive education reform in the state. As a result, in the following five years, test scores increased; dropout rates decreased; and the state achieved the second highest literacy rate out of all states in Brazil. This all happened at the same time as growth in the school-age population. Key aspects of the reform included introducing a standardised curriculum; gradually removing double shifts in schools; increasing the supply of teachers; and a range of programmes to provide targeted support for underperforming schools and teachers. These interventions were coupled with sustained political will for the reform.⁴³

Vietnam

The beginnings of education reform in Vietnam can be dated back to independence from France in 1945. President Ho Chi Minh declared that everyone must be literate believing this was the only way for Vietnam to collectively overcome poverty and develop as a nation. To achieve this, he deployed 96,000 teachers throughout the country. From this point onwards, the country has embarked on an ambitious journey of improvement which resulted in Vietnam achieving the 8th best science results in the world in PISA in 2012 and again in 2015 despite being the poorest country of all participating jurisdictions. Students in Ho Chi Minh City outperformed the already strong national average for Vietnam.⁴⁴ Vietnam has adopted an adaptive and reflective approach to education improvement whereby long-term policy is tweaked and adapted linked to evidence from outside the system (for example, other countries and academic research), and within the system (for example, feedback on policy implementation from schools, districts and provinces). Evidence collected is then contextualised and applied, and the process of reflection and adaption continues. Policy tweaks and adaptations have simultaneously focused on improving access to education for marginalised groups, improving teaching quality, exploring new approaches to pedagogy, feedback and assessment and improving infrastructure.45

Vietnam has adopted an adaptive and reflective approach to education improvement whereby long-term policy is tweaked and adapted linked to evidence from outside the system Chapter 5

Six key accelerators for education system reform Taking a deeper dive into these examples of education reform, as well as drawing on wider literature, we have drawn out six important system accelerators that we think are important for education system reform.

We see these accelerators as core capabilities that policymakers need to develop for rapid school improvement at scale, and which address common binding constraints in education systems:

- 1. Vision and leadership.
- 2. Coalitions for change.
- 3. Delivery architecture including school collaboration.
- 4. Data for collective accountability and improvement.
- 5. Teacher and school leadership effectiveness.
- 6. Evidence-informed policy and learning.

Some reforms are comprehensive and may use all six accelerators; others may be more focused and only use one or two.

'Successful system reform usually means that a small number (up to half dozen) of powerful factors are interacting to produce substantial impact. It is the interaction effect that accounts for the results.' ⁴⁶

'There is a danger that policy instruments are seen too much in a compartmentalised, atomised way by policymakers. It can be the judicious combination of reinforcing policies that leads to beneficial change.' ⁴⁷

Accelerator 1: Vision and leadership

Systems thinking acknowledges that systems are dynamic and complex. It requires leaders who have vision and understanding of how the different components of a system work together. These leaders need a broad range of skills including strategic thinking; adaptability and resilience in response to unforeseen outcomes; horizon scanning to see how the education system might be impacted by changes outside of it; and the ability to work across organisational boundaries and deal with ambiguity.

acknowledges that systems are dynamic and complex. It requires leaders who have vision and understanding of how the different components of a system work together

Systems thinking

What is needed is 'leadership that motivates people to take on the complexities and anxieties of difficult change.' ⁴⁸

'Effective school leadership is increasingly viewed as central to large-scale education reform and to improved educational outcomes.' ⁴⁹

Vision and leadership have been written about extensively in the literature in relation to both school and organisational effectiveness.⁵⁰ Education research has suggested that leadership is the second most influential variable affecting learning outcomes after teaching.⁵¹ Evidence also suggests that successful systems develop the next generation of leaders to ensure continuity and sustainability of reforms.⁵²

The Director of Planning in the Ministry of Education, Science and Technology in **Rwanda** was a key player in owning and championing the country's education reforms in the late 1990s/early 2000s. He helped to build consensus at all levels of the education system for taking a sector-wide approach to education reform.⁵³ This created momentum behind the reform agenda and resulted in the rapid increase in the number of children accessing primary education. The current focus of the Ministry on improving literacy and numeracy builds on this legacy. In **Rio de Janeiro**, the joint leadership of the Mayor and the Secretary of Education over the state's education reforms was identified as being key to its success over the fiveyear period between 2008 and 2013.⁵⁴

'It's all about leadership, isn't it? So, whether it's leadership at local authority level, whether it's leadership at the Department [for Education] level, or whether it's leadership at the school level.' (Headteacher, London)⁵⁵

Effective leadership was at the heart of the **London school improvement story**. Stakeholders interviewed were very positive about the overall quality of leadership in schools a decade after the reform. England's school inspection agency, Ofsted, judged London's school leaders as being more effective than those in every other region of the country, with a far higher percentage of leaders judged 'outstanding'.⁵⁶ Effective leaders in some local authorities also helped support school improvement in schools in London.⁵⁷

In **Dubai**, strong, sustained and visible leadership from key senior individuals in the school system has produced an improvement in standards.⁵⁸ In **Vietnam's education improvement journey**, the government had clear vision and made education the top national priority supporting this with at least 20% of the public budget in recent years. This was supplemented by cash and in-kind contributions from parents and businesses in line with the country's socialisation policy.⁵⁹ An inspiring national vision was one of the four reasons for the success of **Finland's education system**.⁶⁰

Successful systems develop the next generation of leaders to ensure continuity and sustainability of reforms

⁴⁸ Fullan (2005:104) ⁴⁹ Hargreaves, Halász and Pont (2007:3) ⁵⁰ See for example: Adelman and Taylor (2007); Osmond-Johnson and Campbell (2018); Kotter (1995); Mourshed, Chijioke and Barber (2010) ⁵¹ Leithwood, et al. (2006) ⁵² See Mourshed, Chijioke and Barber (2010); Hargreaves, Halász and Pont (2007) ⁵⁵ Latham, Ndaruhutse and Smith (2006) ⁵⁴ McAleavy and Elwick (2017) ⁵⁵ Ibid.:⁴⁷ ⁵⁶ Ibid.: ⁵⁷ McAleavy, Elwick and Hall-Chen (2018) ⁵⁸ McAleavy and Elwick (2017) ⁵⁹ McAleavy, Ha and Fitzpatrick (2018) ⁶⁰ Hargreaves, Halász, and Pont (2007)

Accelerator 2: Coalitions for change

Systems thinking acknowledges that the capacity to solve complex problems is distributed across many stakeholders. Solutions and actions therefore rely on collaboration, and the negotiation of outcomes, rather than a technocratic approach. This highlights the need for change coalitions which are also at the heart of the leadership and political settlements literature.⁶¹ It has been posited that reforms that fail are those that do not invest sufficiently in strategies for 'creating readiness among a critical mass of stakeholders, especially principals and teachers.'⁶²

In **Ho-Chi-Minh City**, Vietnam, authorities created a strong coalition for change that included parents; as a result, teachers placed a high emphasis on the role of parents in helping to transform education for the next generation.⁶³ The role of parents in change coalitions can be seen across Vietnam, with parents inputting and influencing in three ways: (i) parents' financial and in-kind contributions to schools through the 'socialisation' policy; (ii) very high levels of parental involvement in education (41% in Vietnam compared to 5% average in OECD countries); and (iii) parent committees and boards which are responsible for checking activities in schools and are able to come to the school at any point in the day to observe or inspect what is taking place.⁶⁴

When **Dubai** introduced a new approach to school inspection in 2007, the Government also implemented a clear communication strategy to provide a broad range of different stakeholders (the business community, the media, private school owners, school teachers, school principals and parents) with the rationale for the reform and to secure their buy-in. This was highly successful, and transparency about school performance has now become part of the culture and expectation of stakeholders.⁶⁵

Accelerator 3: Delivery architecture including school collaboration

Systems thinking acknowledges the need for clear structures, roles and responsibilities to help create coherence within a system so that one part of a system is not inadvertently undermining what is happening elsewhere in the system.⁶⁶ This also enables effective communication between stakeholders (especially in contexts with highly decentralised systems where there is risk of diverging priorities between different levels). The broader literature highlights this as being a critical success factor for the sustainability of reforms. The reality for many systems is far from this ideal and any lack of clarity undermines coherence.

School-based decision-making has been an important factor in schools' improvement journeys as has having clear foundations for the organising and funding of schools.⁶⁷ Research has also shown the importance of the mediating 'middle tier' between the school and the Ministry of Education.⁶⁸ A study undertaken by the University of Toronto and the University of Minnesota between

School-based decision-making has been an important factor in schools' improvement journeys as has having clear foundations for the organising and funding of schools

⁶¹ See for example the Development Leadership Program's research, www.dlprog.org; Kotter (1995) ⁶² Adelman and Taylor (2007:63) ⁶⁵ McAleavy and Elwick (2017) ⁶⁴ McAleavy, Ha and Fitzpatrick (2018) ⁶⁵ McAleavy and Elwick (2017) ⁶⁶ Kraft, Blazar and Hogan (2017) ⁶⁷ Mourshed, Chijioke and Barber (2010) ⁶⁸ Leithwood (2013)

2004 and 2009 across nine states in the US, explored the effect of local district characteristics on student learning outcomes. It found that school networks which encouraged collaborative professional learning accounted for 17% of the variation in student learning outcomes across districts.⁶⁹

In Brazil, the last 20 years have seen significant decentralisation within the education system from the state to the municipal level. In our study about Interesting Cities it emerged that the **municipality of Rio de Janeiro** ran nearly all the basic education (grades 1 to 9) schools. This decentralisation was identified by *The Economist* as being significant as it allowed practices which worked to be shared across the whole city.⁷⁰ A similar approach can be found in **Vietnam**, where the education system is run in a very organised fashion that is both top-down and bottom-up: new ideas are tested out; feedback is given from schools to the middle tier and the national ministry; adjustments are made; and then the government through its decentralised educational structures at province and district level, implements at scale. This has been a factor that has contributed to the country's success in improving learning.⁷¹

In **England** under the NLNS, the government created regional teams and hundreds of teacher consultant positions to help implement the reform. Additional money was made available for professional development, resources and to collect and share data. These were fairly small changes compared to the size of the system but were a recognition that in order for the reform to be effective, an enhanced delivery architecture was needed.⁷²

In **Finland**, there is a strong educational leadership role played by over 400 local municipalities, who in the most part, own and finance schools and employ teachers and school leaders. They also play a key role in planning and developing the curriculum. **Tampere, one of the municipalities that was an early adopter of the education reforms**, drew from business to adopt a new management approach ensuring that schools, as customers, can access services that have cost and learning outcome indicators. A reform around school leadership gave five school leaders additional district-wide coordination responsibilities and compensated their schools with new managers to backfill these areas. This created the opportunity for greater distribution of leadership; better collaboration, knowledge-sharing and joint problem-solving between schools; and collective responsibility for improved learning in schools across the district rather than school leaders only focusing on their own schools.⁷³ This element of school-to-school collaboration was also at the heart of the **London** and **Rio de Janeiro** school improvement stories.⁷⁴

'In the past few years, lateral capacity has been discovered as a powerful strategy for school improvement...There are a number of obvious benefits from lateral strategies...People learn best from peers (fellow travelers who are further down the road) if there is sufficient opportunity for ongoing, purposeful exchange; the system is designed to foster, develop and disseminate innovative practices that work...leadership is developed and mobilized in many quarters; motivation and ownership at the local level is deepened—a key ingredient for sustainability of effort and engagement.'⁷⁵

In Finland, there is a strong educational leadership role played by over 400 local municipalities, who in the most part, own and finance schools and employ teachers and school leaders

⁶⁹ Lee, Louis and Anderson (2012) ⁷⁰ McAleavy and Elwick (2017:91) ⁷¹ Ibid. ⁷² Mourshed, Chijioke and Barber (2010) ⁷³ Hargreaves, Halász and Pont (2007) ⁷⁴ McAleavy and Elwick (2017) ⁷⁵ Fullan (2006:116-117)
Similarly, when **Ontario** was implementing an education reform to improve literacy and numeracy in primary schools, 100 people in the Ministry of Education worked in partnership with school leaders in all 72 school districts who in turn created reform implementation teams in each of their schools. The total investment for this delivery infrastructure came to about 1% of the annual budget for primary and secondary education, so a relatively small investment for a significant reform.⁷⁶

Accelerator 4: Data for collective accountability and improvement

Systems thinking acknowledges that 'collective capacity' is more important than individual knowledge. It also acknowledges the importance of feedback and learning loops, based on data, in order to build a culture of continuous improvement.

Research undertaken by McKinsey found that two out of the six common features of 20 school systems on an improvement journey were 'assessing student learning' and 'utilising student data to guide delivery'.⁷⁷ Research from **Ontario** on professional learning⁷⁸ outlines the need for ongoing improvement and use of evidence to identify and share good practice, whilst some of the school improvement research highlights the need for collecting and using data on intermediate outcomes to allow for formative evaluation of processes as well as to measure progress.⁷⁹

The use of education performance data was one of the common factors in the success of London schools. This data was used for a two-fold purpose: to identify which schools were underperforming and then to target support to these schools. Stakeholder interviews confirmed that a focus on data was a driving force behind several of the key education improvement initiatives during the 2000s such as London Challenge and Teach First, as well as being central to the dayto-day operations of local authorities and academies. Accountability was initially only through Ofsted inspections and national tests for all 11- and 16-year olds, the results of which were made public. The Director of the London Challenge programme, Tim Brighouse, believed that more support was needed for schools, especially those that were struggling, and he ensured teachers in those schools received higher levels of coaching and training.⁸⁰ In **England**, data is used as a key feature of accountability and helped policymakers to track progress of schools and individual pupils during the NLNS. Since 1992, annual performance tables have been published by the government showing the aggregated test results by school for all 11-year-olds and 16-year-olds in the country. The publication of these performance tables is closely associated with the publication of school inspection data and inspection reports from Ofsted giving parents and communities transparency on how schools are performing.⁸¹

In **Brazil**, every two years all students in Grades 5 and 9 sit national tests in mathematics and Portuguese (the 'Prova Brasil') and the results are made available at national, region and school level. The collection of this data enables comparison between schools and across schools and regions over time. This has given

Systems thinking acknowledges that 'collective capacity' is more important than individual knowledge

⁷⁶ Ibid. ⁷⁷ Mourshed, Chijioke and Barber (2010) ⁷⁸ Osmond-Johnson and Campbell (2018) ⁷⁹ Adelman and Taylor (2007) ⁸⁰ McAleavy and Elwick (2017) ⁸¹ Kaliszewski, Fieldsend and McAleavy (2017)

credibility to the data as it is seen as being fair and comparable by educators. Whilst the focus on performance data has not been popular with everyone, it has undoubtedly been a factor that has driven improvement in schools.⁸² Data is collected on **Vietnamese teachers** through a variety of means including selfreview, peer-review, subject-level review, headteacher review, and reviews by education officials and other schools. Where there are discrepancies in scores, a headteacher will observe teachers to determine the reason for the differences. The use of this data to monitor teachers has helped to drive improvements in performance.⁸³

There is disagreement about the extent to which **Finland** uses test-based accountability; however, what is clear is that the country uses data to monitor performance and target support.⁸⁴ Finland has a strong focus on school self-evaluation and networking so that the system can 'build cooperative structures and hear the weak signals'.⁸⁵ The National Board of Education plays the external evaluation role and collects data on quality at school and municipality level.⁸⁶ Where issues are identified, the municipality can provide support, training and advice in a cooperative and collaborative rather than a punitive way. As a result, underperformance is 'rectified through participation and interaction rather than public exposure and intervention'.⁸⁷ In **Alberta**, transparent data on progress coupled with an innovative school improvement fund that funds school and district-led proposals, has created soft accountability for improvement.⁸⁸

Accelerator 5: Teacher and school leadership effectiveness

Systems thinking acknowledges the importance of 'collective capacity' as well as top-down directives. Building the capacity of the education workforce, so that they own change and have the skills to sustain improvement is critical. Building the technical skills of teachers and principals was one of six common features of 20 school systems on an improvement journey. Three main approaches used to build skills included: (i) pre-service training; (ii) in-service training; and (iii) peer-led learning. The emphasis was on instructionally focused leaders.⁸⁹ A high-quality teaching profession was one of the four principal reasons behind **Finland's education success** with teaching being the most desired profession for secondary school leavers and only one in ten applicants to teaching obtaining a place to train.⁹⁰

Over the last twenty years, **Vietnam** has systematically improved pre-service training for teachers in government schools, increasing the qualification level and also providing a catch-up programme over the summer holidays for existing teachers. As a result, many more teachers are qualified at graduate and post-graduate level and the teacher profession has become more professionalised.⁹¹ Vietnam also invests in future principals and vice-principals providing training in school leadership through two dedicated national institutes.⁹²

In the early 2000s, schools in **London** were facing teacher vacancy rates that were more than three times higher than those in the rest of the country. One of the key reforms that sought to address this challenge was the creation of Teach

Whilst the focus on performance data has not been popular with everyone, it has undoubtedly been a factor that has driven improvement in schools First which provided a new route into teaching for high-achieving graduates from UK universities. Recruits onto the programme had to commit to teach for two years in some of the most economically disadvantaged government schools in London. Teach First produced its first cohort of new teachers in 2003 and made a significant contribution to improving the perception of teaching in London as a high-status profession for the country's top graduates. Its focus on some of the most disadvantaged schools also injected new momentum and energy in these schools.⁹³

Accelerator 6: Evidence-informed policy and learning

An evidence-informed approach is vital. Systems thinking acknowledges that there is no linear relationship between inputs and outcomes. Therefore, it is important to start with an evidence base of what is known to work but then build in adaptability and learning cycles to any education reform approach, recognising that there are still a lot of unknowns about what works.

Some influential and important publications and resources exist as a result of the need for this type of evidence. For example, Hattie's *Visible Learning* provides a synthesis of over 800 meta-analyses on pedagogical interventions that result in improved student achievement to differentiate between common sense ideas and evidence-informed practice.⁹⁴ Another example comes from DFID, the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation and the Hewlett Foundation who provided funding for a systematic review on the strength of evidence of a range of interventions for improving learning outcomes in low- and middle-income countries to help policymakers and practitioners become more evidence-informed.⁹⁵

The need for clear policy and legislation as well as curricular and standards are also accepted. A well-known report from McKinsey found: 'Establishing policy documents and education laws' and 'revising curriculum and standards' were two of six common features of 20 school systems on an improvement journey.⁹⁶ In **Finland**, the National Board of Education which includes the National Curriculum Council, looks to learn from the past (nationally and globally) and uses this to invest heavily into the future. It has developed guidelines to help strategic thinking and this is supported by the use of educational research to ensure education policies are developed in an evidence-informed way. Whilst the Board and Council set the strategic direction, they trust teams of highly qualified teachers to write the curriculum collaboratively at municipality level, to ensure that it will meet the needs of their students.⁹⁷

In recent years, **Vietnam** has created teaching standards based on an analysis of international literature and policy relating to the characteristics of high-quality teaching drawing on evidence from Australia, the UK and the US but also including specific metrics aligned to the Vietnamese education system. The Vietnamese system is outward looking but also strongly focused on contextualising policies to ensure they have a good cultural fit.⁹⁸ In **Ontario**, an education research and evaluation strategy was developed which created dialogue between researchers and schools on how to maximise the benefits of research evidence. As a result,

Teach First produced its first cohort of new teachers in 2003 and made a significant contribution to improving the perception of teaching in London as a highstatus profession for the country's top graduates research informed innovations in policy and practice. These innovations went through a cycle of evaluation and learning which then resulted in modifications to further improve results.⁹⁹

Evidence shows that variation in teacher effectiveness is the factor that has the strongest impact on pupil outcomes after a pupil's socio-economic background.¹⁰⁰ This indicates that attracting and retaining the most effective teachers is one of the best ways to improve learning outcomes in an education system. This evidence has informed education reform strategy in **Finland**, **London and Vietnam** (see Accelerator 6).¹⁰¹ In **Rio de Janeiro**, as part of the education reform, the Secretary of Education gradually implemented a transition away from double- or triple-shift schools to single-shift schools to increase instructional time. This strategy was influenced by the global evidence that indicates that increased instructional time is a key factor leading to better learning outcomes.¹⁰²

A framework for education system reform

Systems thinking requires a holistic perspective and the incorporation of the six accelerators into a framework that can be used to design and implement education reform at scale. At the heart of any system reform framework has to be the goal of improving outcomes for all learners – an inclusive and broad vision that goes beyond what can be measured by test scores. Successful system reform can also only take place if there is a supportive enabling environment. This includes:

- government, community and household financing of education
- parental/community engagement and levels of literacy
- school readiness from early childhood development opportunities
- employment prospects for children and young people leaving school.

The diagram on the following page provides a visualisation of a potential education system reform framework that uses systems thinking.

in teacher effectiveness is the factor that has the strongest impact on pupil outcomes after a pupil's socio-economic background

Variation



Chapter 6

Policy tensions



This report provides an overview of the evolution of systems thinking and the important place of systems thinking in education reform. Its relevance for policymakers and practitioners as they tackle the 'learning crisis' is strong.

Drawing on the evidence, we have identified six important accelerators and offer a framework to support systems thinking for education reform at scale.

Frameworks are a good starting place, and different organisations and systems use a diverse range of frameworks to guide their work. For policymakers and practitioners, the challenge with any framework is its implementation and the wider set of tensions that a framework alone cannot fully address. Outlined here are five of those tensions.

Tension 1: The need to fix the learning crisis whilst not forgetting about those who are not able to access education

Whilst there is clearly a learning crisis, in some regions and countries there is still a grave access challenge. Who you are, where you live and what assets you have (or do not have) all contribute and intersect, resulting in some children being denied access to education. There were 62 million out-of-school children (OOSC) of primary school age in 2015¹⁰³ with between 35% and 50% them living countries affected by conflict, fragility and disaster.¹⁰⁴ By contrast, 387 million children of primary-school age (including these 62 million OOSC) are not learning the minimum levels in reading and mathematics and as a result, 56% of all children will not achieve minimum proficiency levels by the time they should be completing primary education.¹⁰⁵

Addressing the access problem is multi-faceted and requires a response beyond that of just providing more schools and better teachers; there is also a need to address demand-side barriers to children accessing school regularly such as poverty, hardship and fear of sexual harassment as well as wider issues of conflict prevention and resolution, and refugee access to employment opportunities in host countries. Indeed, tackling the challenge of children's access to education in protracted crises is a 'wicked problem' that cannot simply be fixed by looking at the education system alone. It requires working in a multi-disciplinary way.

For policymakers and practitioners, this means the need to keep a balanced focus on how to use systems thinking to address simultaneously the two 'wicked problems' of equitable access and quality learning. For policymakers and practitioners, the challenge with any framework is its implementation and the wider set of tensions that a framework alone cannot fully address

Tension 2: Looking at education as a system whilst at the same time recognising that education is part of a bigger system with interdependencies

Education is an open system that interacts with and is affected (both positively and negatively) by intended and unintended consequences of reforms within the wider system(s) of which it is part. As a result, education policymakers need to ensure they do not look at education reform with a focus only on the education system. Instead, they need to take a holistic perspective that looks simultaneously inside and outside the education system. This requires understanding the interdependencies with wider public policy and reform related to areas such as early childhood development, social welfare, employment and the needs of the labour market, as well as broader issues such as taxation and public financial management. For example, the overall size of the public budget coupled with the percentage and gross amounts available to spend on education constitute a key influence. Ensuring that money is then spent effectively is also of great importance.

This underlines the need for policymakers to work across organisational boundaries in a joined-up way. Australia has attempted to do this in taking a 'whole of government approach' which the government believes increases the level of ownership across a large group of stakeholders and is therefore more likely to result in behaviour change.¹⁰⁶

For policymakers and practitioners, this means keeping a balanced focus on reforming the education system so that it achieves improved outcomes for all children, whilst at the same time having a broad understanding of the bigger system(s) in which the education system operates, to ensure that education reform is not undermined by the reforms taking place in the bigger system(s).

Tension 3: The desire to be evidence-informed yet the reality of operating in a political, economic, social and cultural context that at times has conflicting priorities

'One of the most difficult challenges is how to make better use of sound research within controversial or conflictual policy areas, which are characterised by highly publicised value differences...rational and reasonable deliberative processes can become sidetracked by mediadriven controversy. To the extent that research findings are widely used as ammunition within strongly emotive debates, it may be only a short step to accusations that research on these matters is inherently biased and lacks objectivity...partisans are likely to 'cherry-pick' evidence that seems to support their existing positions.'¹⁰⁷ Education policymakers need to ensure they do not look at education reform with a focus only on the education system Any reform takes place in a dynamic local context so whilst it should be informed by the best available international and local evidence, it also needs to be rooted in the political, economic, social and cultural reality in which it is being implemented. This requires ensuring that evidence on what works is widely known and shared amongst key stakeholders along with any limitations of this evidence.

For policymakers and practitioners, this means creating a culture of learning from the evidence whilst at the same time attempting to understand the opportunities and barriers to sustainable reform which might at times conflict with what the evidence says is the most effective way to approach reform.

There is also an evidence creation element that remains important. Many of the examples cited in this report were not well researched and/or piloted in tandem with the reform, leaving researchers tentatively and retrospectively piecing together cause and effect where possible. The reality is that unless we do better at evaluating the impact of reforms, we will fail to create a better bank of evidence that can support evidence-informed policy.

Tension 4: The theory of education system reform versus the reality of the capacity of the system to implement that reform

'Effective large-scale change requires careful attention to implementation as well as policy, and to the building of an implementation system that is up to the task of bringing about the necessary changes in daily practice.' ¹⁰⁸

The theory, evidence and frameworks may point to particular areas of priority for education reform, but they do not always provide a detailed implementation plan outlining the staffing structure, roles and responsibilities of different stakeholders that will work to make that reform happen in different contexts. When education reform is implemented, it needs a whole change management programme with a focus on capacity development to make it happen. It is not change for change's sake, but rather change that results in sustained improved learning outcomes for all.

For policymakers and practitioners, this means placing equal attention on the change management programme and accompanying capacity development approach needed to implement a reform as on designing the reform.

When education reform is implemented, it needs a whole change management programme with a focus on capacity development to make it happen



Tension 5: The need to balance the focus on the system with a wider understanding of personal agency and community responsibility for education

It is easy to blame 'the system' when reforms fail. Whilst the system is complex and at times unpredictable, this is not a reason to blame the system for negative beliefs, ineffective leadership and poor decision-making by individuals who are part of the system. Individuals and communities play a key role in shaping the circumstances that define their lives and in engaging (or disengaging) with education reform and this can be both positive and negative. As McGarvey (2018) argues:

'So many of the problems we face, that we often attribute to 'the system' are, to some extent, self-generated. Therefore, many of these problems (though certainly not all) are within our individual and collective competence to positively affect. Considering this, and in the absence of a bloodless revolt any time soon, the question for people... is no longer simply "how do we radically transform the system", but also, "how do we radically transform ourselves?"¹⁰⁹

For policymakers and practitioners, in order to ensure sustainability of any systemic reform, this means carefully balancing what the system can achieve with personal and collective responsibility for decisions made that can (negatively or positively) impact the functioning of the system.

Chapter 7





The SDGs have set out ambitious targets for education in 2030 looking at equitable access, quality teaching, relevant learning and ensuring children and young people are developing the skills, values and competencies needed to sustain them during adulthood and provide a sustainable livelihood.

GPE outlines how education is critical to achieving the other SDGs, specifically emphasising the evidence which demonstrates:¹¹⁰

- education reduces poverty and increases income
- education prevents inequality and injustice
- education leads to better health
- education drives sustainable growth
- education helps us to protect the planet
- education requires partnership.

Traditional responses to improve education outcomes that take a piecemeal approach may have some success but are unlikely to solve the 'wicked problems' that different education systems around the world face. The current 'learning crisis' is one such problem; access for OOSC whether due to conflict or due to stigma and marginalisation is another. Traditional responses are also unlikely to have success in maximising the education sector's contribution to achieving the other SDGs.

This report has drawn on the literature on systems thinking from various disciplines and has shown examples from practice in a number of jurisdictions. These examples are not perfect, and reform has not been without its challenges. Some of them may not be sustained due to the momentum in different system accelerators subsiding. However, what they do provide is a glimpse of a different future; one in which systems thinking can help policymakers and practitioners make faster and more sustained progress in achieving education and broader outcomes for the current and future generation of children and young people.

Traditional responses to improve education outcomes that take a piecemeal approach may have some success but are unlikely to solve the 'wicked problems' that different education systems around the world face

'Systems thinking expands the range of choices available for solving a problem by broadening our thinking and helping us articulate problems in new and different ways. At the same time, the principles of systems thinking make us aware that there are no perfect solutions; the choices we make will have an impact on other parts of the system. By anticipating the impact of each trade-off, we can minimize its severity or even use it to our own advantage. Systems thinking therefore allows us to make informed choices.'

Goodman (2018)



References

Adelman, H. and Taylor. L. (2007). 'Systemic Change for School Improvement', *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation*, 17 (1): 55-77.

Australia Public Service Commission (undated). *Tackling* wicked problems: a public policy perspective. [Available online: https://www.apsc.gov.au/tackling-wickedproblems-public-policy-perspective – accessed May 2019]

Banathy, B. (1991). *Systems Design of Education: A Journey to Create the Future*. Englewood Cliffs: Educational Technology Publications.

Betts, F. (1992). 'How Systems Thinking Applies to Education', Improving School Quality, 50 (3): 38-41. [Available online: http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/ nov92/vol50/num03/How-Systems-Thinking-Applies-to-Education.aspx – accessed June 2019]

Boak, E. and Ndaruhutse, S. (2011). *The impact of sector-wide approaches: where from, where now, where to?* Reading: CfBT Education Trust.

Bowman, K., Chettleborough, J., Jeans, H., Rowlands, J. and Whitehead, J. (2015). Systems thinking: An introduction for Oxfam programme staff. Oxford: Oxfam. [Available online: https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/ handle/10546/579896/ml-systems-thinking-151020-en. pdf;jsessionid=E586706522F73D23F06940451AA6B643? sequence=1 – accessed June 2019] Church, Z. (2016) MIT news [Available online: http://news.mit.edu/2016/ professor-emeritus-jay-forrester-digital-computingsystem-dynamics-pioneer-dies-1119 – accessed July 2019]

Campbell, C. and Fulford, D. (2009). From knowledge generation to knowledge integration: Analysis of how a government uses research. Paper presented to the American Educational Research Association, San Diego.

Church, Z. (2016). *MIT news*. [Available online: http://news. mit.edu/2016/professor-emeritus-jay-forrester-digitalcomputing-system-dynamics-pioneer-dies-1119 – accessed July 2019]

Cuban, L. (1998). 'How Schools Change Reforms: Redefining Reform Success and Failure', *Teachers College Record*, 99 (3), Spring 1998: 453-477. [Available online: https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/f94e/ ee5682605b7fc52628f9beeb2df723c682d8.pdf – accessed May 2019]

De Savigny, D. and Taghreed, A. (Eds.) (2009). Systems thinking for health systems strengthening. Geneva: Alliance for Health Policy and Systems Research/ WHO. [Available online: http://apps.who.int/iris/ bitstream/handle/10665/44204/9789241563895_eng. pdf;jsessionid=414BB75A28E1FC8BE8D272A68499907C? sequence=1 – accessed June 2019] DFID (2018). DFID Education Policy: Get Children Learning. London: DFID. [Available online: https://assets.publishing. service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/ attachment_data/file/685536/DFID-Education-Policy-2018a.pdf – accessed July 2019]

DFID (2003). Promoting Institutional and Organisational Development: A Source Book of Tools and Techniques. London: DFID.

Education Commission (2016). *The Learning Generation: Investing in education for a changing world*. A Report by the International Commission on Financing Global Education Opportunity. [Available online: https://report. educationcommission.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/ Learning_Generation_Full_Report.pdf – accessed May 2019]

Fleisch, B., Schoer, V., Roberts, G. and Thornton, A. (2016). 'System-wide improvements of the early-grade mathematics: New evidence from the Gauteng Primary Language and Mathematics Strategy'. International *Journal of Educational Development*, 49: 157-174.

Fullan, M. (2009). 'Large-scale reform comes of age'. *Journal of Educational Change*, (2009) 10: 101-113.

Fullan, M. (2005). Leadership & sustainability: System thinkers in action. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin.

Fullan, M. (2006). 'The future of educational change: system thinkers in action'. *Journal of Educational Change*, 1: 113-122.

Fullan, M. and Miles, M. (1992). 'Getting Reform Right: What Works and What Doesn't', *Phi Delta Kappan*, Bloomington, Vol 37, Issue 10 (June 1992): 744-752.

Global Partnership for Education (2015). Education and the Global Goals. [Available online: https://www. globalpartnership.org/multimedia/infographic/educationand-global-goals – accessed Aug 2019]

Goodman (2018). Systems thinking: What? Why? Where? When? and How? [Available online: https:// thesystemsthinker.com/systems-thinking-what-why-whenwhere-and-how/ – accessed July 2019]

Hargreaves, A. (2009). *The fourth way of change* in A. Hargreaves & M. Fullan (Eds.) *Change Wars* (pp. 11–43). Bloomington: Solution Tree.

Hargreaves, A., Halász, G., and Pont, B. (2007). School leadership for systemic improvement in Finland. Paris: Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development. [Available online: http://www.oecd.org/education/ school/39928629.pdf – accessed July 2019]

Hattie, J. (2009). Visible Learning: A synthesis of over 800 meta-analyses relating to achievement. Abingdon: Routledge

Head, B. (2015). 'Toward more "evidence-informed" policy making?', *Public Administration Review*, 76 (3): 472-484.

Kaliszewski, M., Fieldsend, A. and McAleavy, T. (2017). *England's approach to school performance data – lessons learned*. Reading: Education Development Trust. [Available online: https://www.educationdevelopmenttrust.com/ EducationDevelopmentTrust/files/db/db3fbd8b-96af-4371be33-ef8559bce2d7.pdf – accessed July 2019]

Kotter, J. (1995). 'Leading change: why transformation efforts fail', *Harvard Business Review*, 73 (2): 55-67.

Kraft, M., Blazar, D. and Hogan, D. (2017). 'The Effect of Teacher Coaching on Instruction and Achievement: A Meta-Analysis of the Causal Evidence', *Review of Educational Research*, 88 (4): 547-588.

Lannon, C. (2018). *Revitalising the schools: A systems thinking approach*. [Available online: https://thesystemsthinker.com/revitalizing-the-schools-a-systems-thinking-approach/ – accessed July 2019]

Latham, M., Ndaruhutse, S. and Smith, H. (2006). Supporting National Education Reform in Sub-Saharan Africa. Reading: CfBT Education Trust. [Available online: https://www.educationdevelopmenttrust.com/ EducationDevelopmentTrust/files/f4/f4dcf5e5-ef89-448baf4e-c7f7689759d9.pdf – accessed June 2019]

Lebcir, R. (2006). *Health Care Management: The Contributions of System Thinking*. [Available online: https://uhra.herts.ac.uk/bitstream/handle/2299/683/S65.pdf – accessed May 2019]

Lee, M., Louis, K., Anderson, S. (2012). 'Local education authorities and student learning: The effects of policies and practices' in *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 23 (2): 133-158. [Available online: https://www.academia. edu/6146315/Local_education_authorities_and_student_ learning_the_effects_of_policies_and_practices – accessed June 2019]

Leithwood, K. (2013). *Strong Districts and their Leadership*. A Paper Commissioned by The Council of Ontario Directors of Education and The Institute for Education Leadership. [Available online: http://www.ontariodirectors.ca/ downloads/Strong%20Districts-2.pdf – accessed July 2019]

Leithwood, K., Day, C., Sammons, P., Harris, A. and Hopkins, D. (2006). *Seven Strong Claims about Successful School Leadership*. Nottingham: National College for School Leadership. [Available online: https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/6967/1/ download%3fid=17387&filename=seven-claims-aboutsuccessful-school-leadership.pdf – accessed June 2019]

McAleavy, T., Elwick, A. and Hall-Chen, A. (2018). Sustaining success: high performing government schools in London. Reading: Education Development Trust. [Available online: https://www.educationdevelopmenttrust.com/ EducationDevelopmentTrust/files/cd/cd6919e3-206b-4e0b-8459-d10609a044c3.pdf – accessed August 2019] McAleavy, T. and Elwick, A. (2017). Interesting Cities: Five Approaches to Urban School Reform. Reading: Education Development Trust. [Available online: https://www. educationdevelopmenttrust.com/our-research-andinsights/research/interesting-cities-five-approaches-tourban-school – accessed June 2019]

McAleavy, T., Ha, T. and Fitzpatrick, R. (2018). *Promising practice: government schools in Vietnam*. Reading: Education Development Trust. [Available online: https:// www.educationdevelopmenttrust.com/our-research-andinsights/research/promising-practice-government-schoolsin-vietnam – accessed June 2019]

McEwan, P. (2015). 'Improving learning in primary schools of developing countries: a meta-analysis of randomized experiments', *Review of Education Research* 85 (3): 333-394. [Available online: https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/281209824_Improving_Learning_in_Primary_ Schools_of_Developing_Countries_A_Meta-Analysis_of_ Randomized_Experiments – accessed May 2019]

McGarvey, D. (2018). Poverty Safari. London: Picador.

Mourshed, M., Chijioke, C. and Barber, M. (2010). How the world's most improved school systems keep getting better. London: McKinsey & Company. [Available online: https://www. mckinsey.com/~/media/McKinsey/Industries/Social%20 Sector/Our%20Insights/How%20the%20worlds%20 most%20improved%20school%20systems%20keep%20 getting%20better/How_the_worlds_most_improved_ school_systems_keep_getting_better.ashx – accessed April 2019]

Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs (2014). *Education and Development*. Meld. St. 25 (2013–2014) Report to the Storting (White Paper). Oslo: Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs. [Available online: https://www.regjeringen.no/ contentassets/118ab85ad919493699f9623aad5652fb/ en-gb/pdfs/stm201320140025000engpdfs.pdf – accessed June 2019]

Oates, T. (2015). *Finnish Fairy Stories*. Cambridge: Cambridge Assessment. [Available online: https://www. cambridgeassessment.org.uk/Images/207376-finnish-fairystories-tim-oates.pdf – accessed June 2019]

OECD (2006). Attracting, Developing and Retaining Effective Teachers – Final Report: Teachers Matter. Paris: OECD. [Available online: https://www.oecd.org/education/school/ attractingdevelopingandretainingeffectiveteachersfinalreportteachersmatter.htm – accessed May 2019]

Osmond-Johnson, P. and Campbell, C. (2018). 'Transforming an education system through professional learning: developing educational change at scale in Ontario', *Educational Research for Policy and Practice* (2018), 17 (3): 241-256. [Available online: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10671-018-9233-7 – accessed June 2019] Psacharopoulos, G. (1989). 'Why educational reforms fail: A comparative analysis', *International Review of Education*, June 1989, 35 (2): 179-195.

Ratcliffe, M. and Macrae, M. (1999). Sector Wide Approaches to Education – A Strategic Analysis. DFID Education Research Paper No. 32. London: DFID. [Available online: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/ media/57a08d9140f0b652dd001a46/paper32.pdf – accessed June 2019]

Sarason, S. (1990). *The Predictable Failure of Educational Reform: Can We Change Course Before It's Too Late?* San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Schmets, G., Rajan, D. and Kadandale, S. (2016). *Strategizing* national health in the 21st century: a handbook. Geneva: WHO. [Available online: https://www.who.int/healthsystems/ publications/nhpsp-handbook/en/ – accessed June 2019]

Snilstveit, B., Stevenson, J., Phillips, D., Vojtkova, M., Gallagher, E., Schmidt, T., Jobse, H., Geelen, M., Pastorello, M., and Eyers, J. (2015). *Interventions for improving learning outcomes and access to education in low- and middleincome countries: a systematic review*. 3ie Systematic Review 24. London: International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie).

The National Strategies (2011). The National Strategies 1997-2011: a brief summary of the impact and effectiveness of the National Strategies, London: Department of Education. [Available online: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/ government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ file/175408/DFE-00032-2011.pdf – accessed August 2019]

Trochim, W., Cabrera, D., Milstein, B., Gallagher, R. and Leischow, S. (2006). 'Practical challenges of systems thinking and modeling in public health'. *American Journal of Public Health*, March 2006, 96 (3): 538-546. [Available online: https://www.socialresearchmethods.net/research/ PracticalChallengesOfSystemsThinkingAndModelingIn PublicHealth.pdf – accessed May 2019]

UNESCO-UIS (2016). Estimation of the numbers and rates of out-of-school children and adolescents using administrative and household survey data. Information Paper No. 35. Montreal: UIS. [Available online: http://uis.unesco.org/sites/ default/files/documents/estimation-of-the-numbers-andrates-of-out-of-school-children-and-adolescents-usingadministrative-and-household-survey-data-2016-en_0.pdf – accessed June 2019]

UNICEF (2018a). *Strategic Plan 2018-2024*. New York: UNICEF. [Available online: https://www.unicef.org/publications/files/ UNICEF_Strategic_Plan_2018-2021.pdf – accessed July 2019]

UNICEF (2018b). A Future Stolen: Young and out of school. New York: UNICEF. [Available online: https://data.unicef.org/ resources/a-future-stolen/ – accessed June 2019] US Government (2018). US Government Strategy on International Basic Education Fiscal Years 2019-2023. Washington DC: US Government. [Available online: https:// www.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/documents/1865/ USG-Education-Strategy_FY2019-2023_Final_Web.pdf – accessed July 2019]

WHO (2018). *Guidelines on health policy and system support* to optimize community health worker programmes. Geneva: WHO.

WHO (2007). Everybody's Business: Strengthening Health Systems to Improve Health Outcomes – WHO's Framework for Action. Geneva: WHO. [Available online: https://www.who. int/healthsystems/strategy/everybodys_business.pdf – accessed June 2019]

World Bank (2019). *Education: Overview*. [Available online: https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/education/ overview#2 – accessed July 2019]

World Bank (2018). *Learning to Realize Education's Promise*. 2018 World Development Report. Washington DC: World Bank. [Available online: https://www.worldbank.org/en/ publication/wdr2018 – accessed June 2019]

World Bank (2015). *Children out of school, primary*. World Bank Data. [Available online: https://data.worldbank.org/ indicator/SE.PRM.UNER?end=2015&most_recent_year_ desc=false&start=1970 – accessed August 2019]

World Bank (2012). *World Bank Education Sector Strategy* 2020: Learning for All. Washington DC: World Bank.



 Education Development Trust
 Highbridge House, 16–18 Duke Street, Reading, Berkshire RG1 4RU

 T +44 (0) 118 902 1000
 E enquiries@educationdevelopmenttrust.com

 Wwww.educationdevelopmentTrust.com
 Education Development Trust is a registered charity (No. 270901) and company limited by guarantee (No. 867944)